




 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  1 



      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting December 7, 2022 Page 1 
 

MIDDLETON CITY COUNCIL  
DECEMBER 7, 2022 

 
The Middleton City Council Meeting was called to order on December 7, 2022, at 5:31 p.m. by 
Mayor Steve Rule.  
 
Roll Call:  
City Council: Council President Kiser, Council Members Huggins, Council Member Murray were 
present. Council Member Tim O’Meara was absent.  
 
Mayor Rule, City Attorney Douglas Waterman, City Administrator Ms. Crofts, Planning & Zoning 
Official Ms. Stewart, Public Works Director Mr. Van Gilder and Deputy Clerks Ms. Reynolds and 
Ms. Day were present. 
 
Action Items  

A. Approve Agenda 
 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve the Agenda as posted on December 2, 
2022, at 3:00 p.m.  Motion seconded by Council Member Murray and approved unanimously. 
 
1. Consent Agenda (items of routine administrative business) (Action Items) 

a. Consider approving minutes for City Council November 30, 2022, Special 
meeting. 

b. Consider ratifying payroll for December 2, 2022, in the amount of $ 107.345.44. 
c. Consider approving accounts payable through November 10, 2022, in the 

amount of $377,793.73. 
d. Consider approving the Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law & Order for the 

Waterford East Subdivision project.   
 
Mayor Rule called items and Council President Kiser stated he had reviewed the accounts 
payable.  Council Member Huggins stated that in the check register there were duplicated 
pages, however, no checks themselves had been duplicated.  

 
Motion: Motioned by Council President Kiser to approve Consent Agenda Items 1 a-d. 
Motion seconded by Council Member Huggins and approved unanimously. 

 
2. Consider approving 2023 City Council and Planning and Zoning Commission 

Regular Scheduled Meeting year schedule.   
 

Mayor Rule called the item. No discussion by Council.  
 
Motion: Motioned by Council President Kiser to approve the 2023 City Council and 
Planning and Zoning Commission Regular Scheduled Meeting year schedule. Motion 
seconded by Council Member Huggins and approved unanimously. 
 

3. Consider approving Final Plat for Bridger Creek Subdivision and request for 
waiver to allow bonding for roadway construction. – Ms. Stewart 

 
 Mayor Rule called the item and P&Z Official Ms. Stewart presented the Final Plat. She 

discussed the request for waiver to allow bonding for roadway construction. Mr. Tim 
Mokwa from Hayden Homes was asked to address Council regarding the request for 



      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting December 7, 2022 Page 2 
 

waiver.  
 
 Discussion by Council 
 

Motion:  Motioned by Council President Kiser to approve Final Plat for Bridger Creek 
Subdivision and request for waiver to allow bonding for roadway construction. Motion 
seconded by Council Member Huggins and approved unanimously. 

 
4. Public Hearing: An application by IAG Hidden Mill LLC (successor in interest to 

IAG LLC) and Bob Unger, Unger Enterprises, LLC for preliminary plat with respect 
to the Hidden Mill Subdivision (Tax Parcel No. 33891010). The proposed 
preliminary plat consists of 20 residential lots, 2 common lots, and 2 private lane 
lots on approximately 6.5 acres of vacant land zoned City R-3 (Single-Family 
Residential). – Ms. Stewart 
 
Mayor opened the public hearing at 5:48 p.m. 
Legal Counsel advised that this is a new hearing and decisions should be made on the 
information presented during this public hearing.  
 
P&Z Official Ms. Stewart presented a PowerPoint of the project. (Exhibit 1)  
Applicant – Bob Unger presented the project. He also addressed letters received from 
landowners: 

• Mr. Schwab regarding perimeter fence and water and sewer. 

• Mr. Solomon regarding wrought iron fencing along the path and a locked gate. 
Perimeter fencing will provide a shield for vehicle lights. 

 
Applicant Attorney – Louis Spiker – Project is an infill project that meets MCC 
requirements. The applicant was instructed to meet with the school district, which they 
have. 
 
Mayor Rule opened public testimony at 6:13 p.m. 
 
Jim Taylor: He likes to see the town grow in and fill in with these types of projects. 
Mike Graefe: Doesn’t understand where property line is with relation to the slough. Are 
the two private drives a Common Lot? 
 
Rebuttal: Bob Unger:  

• This is an infill lot.  

• The property line runs along the slough, that is a common lot, no residential lots 
have any portion of the slough.  

• Each lot is a stand alone residential lot of a minimum 8,000 sq ft. 

• Private drives are considered Common Lots and have a recorded access and 
utility easement. 

 
Mayor Rule closed public testimony at 6:19 p.m. 
 
Council Discussion 
 

Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser that based upon the facts and law presented, to 
approve the application of IAG Hidden Mill for preliminary plat subject to the conditions of 



      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting December 7, 2022 Page 3 
 

approval set forth in the Staff Report for the public hearing. Motion seconded by Council 
Member Huggins and approved unanimously by Roll Call Vote. 
 

Mayor Rule closed the public hearing at 6:21 p.m. 
 

Mayor Rule called for a brief recess at 6:21 p.m. and the meeting resumed at 6:30 p.m. 
 
5. Public Hearing: (Continued from 11-16-2022):  Application by Adam Capell/Toll 

Brothers Building Company & Nicolette Womack/Kimley-Horn Engineering for 
annexation and rezone, preliminary plat, and development agreement with respect 
to the Black Powder Subdivision located at 0 Cemetery Road, Middleton, Idaho 
(tax parcel no., R38207).  The annexation involves 40.28 acres of vacant land 
currently zoned County “Agricultural.” Applicants are requesting a rezone to R-3 
(single family residential). The preliminary plat includes 105 single family home 
lots and 17 common lots. – Ms. Stewart    
 

 Mayor Rule opened the public hearing at 6:30 p.m. 
  

P&Z Official Ms. Stewart presented a PowerPoint presentation of Black Powder 
application. (Exhibit 2). She also added into the record (Exhibit H) as a late exhibit. 
 
Council Member Murray asked about the cost of the Hartley traffic signal. Ms. Stewart 
said she didn’t know exact numbers but somewhere about 1.7 million dollars. 
 
Applicant Team: Nicolette Womack (Kimley-Horn), Jeff Bower (Givens Pursley LLP), 
Sonia Daleiden (Kittelson & Associates, Inc.) presented a PowerPoint of the Application. 
(Exhibit 3) 

• Toll Brothers will construct a crosswalk on Cemetery to help with the pedestrian 
traffic. They will also pay $150,000 towards an interim traffic signal at Cemetery 
and SH44. Also wants to know the smallest minimum lot size 

 
Mayor Rule opened public testimony at 6:58 p.m. 
 
Mike Graefe: Not opposed. Wants to know what kind of crosswalk will be constructed. 
Doesn’t think $150,000 is enough for the traffic light. Coleman had paid lump sum of 
$350,000 for the light at Cemetery and SH44. 
 
Rebuttal:  
Jeff Bower 

• Striping will only be on Crosswalk 

• The smallest lot size is 8,500 sq ft.  

• $350,000 payment was made and no strings are attached as to what 
improvement it is applied to. 

Sonia Daleiden 

• The traffic improvements at SH44 and Hartley is so expensive because turn 
lanes and road widening is required.  

• A rough cost estimate for an interim traffic signal is $500-700K. 

• Mid-Star Traffic Impact fees will help pay for that as well. 

• Black Powder will contribute less than 1% of the traffic impact. 

• They will work with the City to determine the type of Crosswalk that is needed at 



      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting December 7, 2022 Page 4 
 

Cemetery Road.  
 
Additional Public Testimony (Allowed by Mayor) 
Justin Brace: Concerned about intersections in general. 
 
Mayor Rule: Hartley and SH44 was designed and planned over 3 years ago. The City 
has been waiting for the funding.  
 
Rebuttal: 
Sonia Daleiden – Contributions are made to the City for intersection improvements. It is 
up to the City’s discretion to determine what those intersections are. Developers do want 
to be a part of the solution. 
 
Mayor Rule asked for clarification that this designed subdivision will only affect the 
Cemetery/SH44 intersection by 1% based on the traffic study. Ms. Daleiden confirmed. 
 
Mayor Rule closed public testimony at 7:16 p.m. 
 
Council Discussion: 
Murray: Has concerns about cost of traffic signal and traffic in general.  
Huggins: The City is trying to position itself so as to take advantage of any economic 
atmosphere. The School District tried to get ahead of the growth in 2018, the community 
said no thank you. We also have to remember that while traffic is important, it is not the 
only fund and infrastructure to consider. The city has created the water and sewer 
infrastructure to support this project.  
Kiser: It will take 3-4 years before a single car from this subdivision will affect traffic. But 
the upfront fees for traffic impact is significant, instead of waiting 3-4 years for fees to be 
paid with building permits. 
 

Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve the application of Adam Capell/Toll 
Brothers for annexation and rezone of the Black Powder project parcel is approved subject 
to the conditions of approval set forth in the Staff Report for the December 7, 2022, public 
hearing. Motion seconded by Council Member Huggins. 

Roll Call Vote: Kiser-Yes, Huggins-Yes, Murray-No. 
 

Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve the application of Adam Capell/Toll 
Brothers for preliminary plat is approved subject to the conditions of approval set forth in the 
Staff Presentation and in the Staff Report except for the changes noted to condition number 
7 of the Staff Report. Motion seconded by Council Member Huggins. 

Roll Call Vote: Kiser-Yes, Huggins-Yes, Murray-No. 
 

Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve the application of Adam Capell/Toll 
Brothers for development agreement is approved subject to the conditions of approval set 
forth in the Staff Presentation and in the Staff Report except for the changes noted to 
condition number 7 of the Staff Report.  Motion seconded by Council Member Huggins. 

Roll Call Vote: Kiser-Yes, Huggins-Yes, Murray-No. 
 
Motion passes 2-1. 
Mayor Rule closed the public hearing at 7:34 p.m. 
 
6. Public Hearing: Application by City of Middleton for amendment and revision 



      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting December 7, 2022 Page 5 
 

to the following Middleton City Code sections: (a) MCC 1-3-1; (b) 1-14-1 (c) 4-5-
7; (d) MCC 4-5-11; (e) MCC 5-4-1, Table 1; (f) MCC 5-4-4; (g) 5-4-7; (h) 5-4-10-2; 
(i) 5-4-10-6; and (j) 5-4-10-7. – Ms. Stewart 

 
Mayor Rule opened the public hearing at 7:34 p.m. 
 
P&Z Official Ms. Stewart presented the proposed code changes via PowerPoint 
presentation. (Exhibit 4) 
 
Discussion by Council and Staff. Council wants to remove flexspace from M-U and 
increase bonding requirements from 150% to 200%. 
 
Mayor Rule opened public comment at 8:20 p.m. 
 
Mike Graefe: Doesn’t understand flexspace. Doesn’t want the ice-cream truck to go 
away. 
Jay Walker: Concerns about landscape traffic buffers, fencing, bonding and flexspace 
being removed from M-U. 
 
Mayor Rule closed public comment at 8:34 p.m. 
 
Mayor Rule closed the public hearing at 8:34 p.m. 
 
No decision was made, because Ordinance for Code Changes will be brought back 
before the council at the next meeting. 
 

 
Public Comments: 
Mike Graefe: He was upset with ITD meeting.  
 
Mayor and Council Comments 
Mayor Rule: Believes ITD did a good job. They were under a lot of heat. 
 

Adjourn: Mayor adjourned the meeting at 8:42 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
             
ATTEST:      Mayor Steve Rule   
 
      
Jennica Reynolds, Deputy Clerk 
Minutes Approved: December 21, 2022 
 

 

 

 



 

EXHIBIT “1” 



12/13/2022

1

Hidden Mill Subdivision  
Preliminary Plat Application                                                       

Middleton City Council                                      December 7, 2022

Project Description: Subdivision with 20 single family buildable lots, two common lots, and two private lane lots on 6.65 acres of vacant land. 
(Tax Parcel No. R33891010).

Application: Developer/Owner has submitted 
applications for floodplain permit and preliminary plat. 
Council considered the Preliminary Plat application at 
a September 21st Public Hearing. Council denied the 
application based upon information regarding 
overcrowding in the Middleton School District. 
Council stated that Applicant may gain approval once 
Applicant meets with School District staff to discuss 
mitigation measures to relieve overcrowding.

Developer/Applicant timely submitted a “Request for 
Reconsideration” of the denial.  The request was 
heard on November 2, 2022, and City Council 
granted the Request, triggering the need for this new 
public hearing before City Council tonight.

Current Zoning & Property Condition:  

The Hidden Mill property is within City 
limits.  It is an infill project zoned R-3 
(Single-Family Residential). It is 
surrounded primarily by City property 
zoned R-3. City property zoned R-4 is 
located to the north.

City Services: City water and sewer are 
located immediately south in the Bridgewater 
Creek Subdivision. 

Traffic & Access

Road access will be through the Bridgewater 
Creek Subdivision and Cornell Street to the 
south. 

Developer/Builder will contribute to surrounding 
road improvements by paying $5,050 to the Mid-
Star Transportation Impact Fee for each building 
permit issued. 

Pathway & Open SpaceA 10’ wide paved pathway will run along 
the Mill Slough. Two benches and pet 
waste station will be strategically installed 
along the side of the pathway. The 
pathway will connect to the existing 
pathways as set forth in the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan. The pathway will be 
encumbered by a public access 
easement.  The Subdivision HOA and/or 
Developer will be responsible for 
maintaining and repairing the pathway. 

Open space for the development is 22% if 
one considers only the pathway and 
gathering area with benches.  It is 27% if 
the 2nd large grassy retention area is 
included.  Minimum open space required 
is 5%.

Middleton Rural Fire District: Deputy Chief Victor Islas of Middleton Rural Fire District has requested developer to install a fire 
suppression sprinkler system in each home to mitigate for lack of a 2nd access. This will result in the subdivision meeting code 
requirements.  The developer has agreed to this condition.

Schools:  The Hidden Mill Subdivision is in the Middleton School District #134. Elementary Students living in the subdivision will 
attend Heights Elementary. Recently Superintendent Gee stated that Heights Elementary is at 134% capacity, but as Council 
already knows, there are solutions that the District is considering to alleviate overcrowding.

The City has no jurisdiction or control over the School system.  Instead, the City can only support and collaborate with the School 
officials to try to address issues and problems.  In Idaho, new schools are generally built with bonds passed by the residents. In 
effect, the residents decide whether new schools will be built or not be built. Residents in Middleton and the surrounding County 
have not approved bonds for new schools for a number of years.

Preliminary Plat Application: The subdivision contains 20 home lots, 2 common lots, and 2 private drive 
lots, all to be completed in a single phase.

1 2 3

4 5 6

7 8 9



12/13/2022

2

Applicant is requesting a variance to not place the “perimeter fence” on the actual subdivision perimeter as required by MCC 5-4-11-2. 
A good portion of the perimeter boundary is located in the middle of the slough so it will be physically impossible to comply with the 
code. Therefore, Applicant is requesting that the perimeter fence be placed on the rear boundary of individual home lots.  This will also 
help open up the pathway corridor and the greenspace area for gathering. The fence along the path will be “open vision” fencing such 
as wrought iron. (See blue highlight.)  The rest of the fencing will be 6’ privacy fence. (See red highlight)

Council may grant waivers or 
exceptions to City standards and 
dimensions when considering a 
preliminary plat. (MCC 1-15-2).

Preliminary Plat (con’t):

As to findings of facts, per City Code, the sole criteria for determining whether a pre-plat should be approved is this: 

1. Does the pre-plat comply with R-3 Zoning?
2. Does the pre-plat meet the standards, dimensions, and requirements of our City Code?

If the answer to both questions is “yes,” or if a variance is granted in the event a standard is not met, then the preliminary plat should be approved.

FINDINGS: Planning Staff finds that the preliminary plat complies with all standards and requirements in the City and State codes except for the 
fencing waiver request. Planning Staff further finds that the fencing variance request is reasonable and should be approved because it is 
impossible to comply with the code in light of the fact that a good portion of the boundary line is in the center of the Mill Slough. 

Additionally, City Engineer, Amy Woodruff, has recommended approval of the Preliminary Plat.  (See Recommendation Letter)

Comprehensive Plan & Land Use Map: Applicant’s project complies with 
the Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map. The intended use is Residential 
which is an allowable use in the Mixed-Use area (green) shown on the Land 
Use Map.

Additionally, Applicant’s project complies with the Goals, Objectives, and 
Strategies of the 2019 Middleton Comprehensive Plan as follows:

a. Goal 2: Preserve and protect private property rights as required by Idaho 
law.

b. Goals 3: The project provides safe transportation services by creating on-
site sidewalks and pathways as extensions or connections to public 
pathways or sidewalks. 

c. Goal 4: The project will establish a good quality of life with development 
that pays through impact fees and property taxes for the public services it 
receives when infrastructure is installed.

d. Goals 10, 22 and 23: the addition of pathways increases recreational 
activity and promotes walkability, social interaction, and health in the 
Community.

e. Goal 11: The project will allow dwelling types that match residents’ 
lifestyles by promoting in-fill housing improvements. 

Comments Received: 

Agency Comments: Comments from Drainage Ditch #2, ITD and 
Middleton Rural Fire were attached as Exhibit “D” for public and 
Council review.  

Of note, when City Council denied Applicant’s preliminary plat 
application at the September 21, 2022, hearing, City Council noted 
that Applicant may obtain approval once they met with School 
District Staff to discuss ways to mitigate overcrowding in the 
Schools.  Applicant met with School District Staff, and Middleton 
School District submitted a 2nd comment letter memorializing the 
meeting they had with Applicant.  The District set forth mitigating 
measures that Applicant and School District agreed upon.  The 
agreement is outside of City purview, and it will be a private 
agreement between only Applicant and MSD #134.  (The School 
letter was attached as Exhibit “E” to the Staff Report.) 

Staff & Public Comments:  Comments from City Engineer, 
Planning Staff & the public were attached as Exhibits “C” and “F” to 
the Staff Report. 

Notices: Dates:

*Neighborhood Meeting 11/1/2021    
*Newspaper Notification 11/22/2022
*Radius notification mailed to 
Landowners within 500’ 11/21/2022
*Circulation to Agencies 11/21/2022
*Sign Posting property 11/21/2022

Applicant/Owner: IAG Hidden Mill, LLC (successor in interest to Wade Thomas, IAG, LLC) 800 W. Main St., Suite 1460, Boise, 
Idaho 83702.  Representative is Bob Unger of Unger Enterprises.

Applicable Codes and Standards:
Idaho Code Secs., 67-6503, 67-6509, 67-6511, 67-6513, 50-1301 through 50-1329. Idaho Standards for Public Works 
Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction. Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 
5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4.

Planning & Zoning Recommendations: The Planning & Zoning 
Commission heard the Hidden Mill application at the August 8, 2022, 
public hearing. The Commission recommended that City Council 
approve the application for Preliminary Plat subject to the conditions 
detailed in the Staff Report and subject to Applicant meeting with the 
School District to discuss possible ways to assist with school 
overcrowding. (FCR attached as Exhibit “G” to Staff Report)

Conclusions and Recommended Conditions of Approval:

According to Idaho State Law and the Middleton City Code, any land use decision City Council must be based upon Findings of Facts 
and Conclusions of Law. 

Findings of Facts: Planning Staff has set forth the Findings of Facts in the Staff Report and in this presentation. 

Conclusions of Law: As to Conclusions of Law, Planning Staff finds that the City Council has the authority to hear this application 
and to approve or deny it, with or without conditions. Staff also finds that all public notice requirements were met, and Staff identified 
portions of the Idaho State Code and Middleton City Code to be considered in making a decision on the application. 

If Council is inclined to approve the Hidden Mill Preliminary Plat application, Staff 
recommends the following conditions:

1. City of Middleton water, fire flow and sewer services are to be extended to serve 
the subdivision.

2. All City Engineer review comments are to be completed and approved. 
3. All City Planner comments to be completed and approved.
4. All comments from Middleton Fire to be completed and approved.
5. All Floodplain Administrator comments to be completed and approved.
6. Pathway along the slough is to be 10 ft wide with a public access easement.  

Developer/HOA to maintain and repair the public pathway.
7. All landscaping and amenities to be installed in compliance with the submitted 

landscape plan and preliminary plat.
8. Developer shall create a plan for operation, maintenance, and repair of 

stormwater facilities (O&M Plan), which should be recorded with the CC&Rs. 
9. Sewer and water capacity to be reserved at the time the City approves the 

construction drawings for the project. 

Lastly, if the Council denies the application, Council should state on the record what 
Applicant can do, if anything, to gain Council approval.

10 11 12

13 14 15

16 17



 

EXHIBIT “2” 



12/13/2022

1

Black Powder Subdivision 
Annexation/Rezone, Preliminary Plat & Development Agreement  

Middleton City Council
Public Hearing December 7, 2022

Project Description, Application & Zoning:

Single Family residential subdivision located at 0 Cemetery Road (tax parcel no., R38207).  The Project contains 105 single family 
home lots and 17 common lots on 40.28 acres of vacant land.  

Applicant Developer has three applications: (1) annexation and rezone to R-3 (Single Family Residential), (2) Preliminary Plat, and (3) 
Development Agreement.

The property is currently vacant land in Canyon County zoned “Agricultural.” It is contiguous to Middleton City limits and is surrounded 
on three sides by City property zoned R-3.  To the north is County property zoned Agricultural.

City Services:  City water and sewer are accessible 
to the project. Sewer will connect to the sewer line in 
W. Highlands Phase 17.  Water will connect to a large 
water main in Cemetery Road.   

Sewer and water capacity are already included in the 
City’s current capacity analyses. 

Pathways, Open Space & Amenities:  

Developer has provided open space in the 
form of a large landscaped common lot 
with play structure, benches, pathways, 
shade structure and picnic tables.  

There are also wide landscaped areas with 
pathways that separate the rear yards of 
the interior homes.  These common lots 
create a spacious landscaped buffer 
between homes while serving as 
connecting pathways.

These landscape pathways combined with 
the landscaped park area equal 6% open 
space. The City Code requires only a 
minimum of 5% open space.

Traffic, Access & Streets:  
Access to the subdivision is 
primarily off of Cemetery 
Road and the future 
Meadow Park Street.  
Connecting stub roads into 
W. Highlands Ranch are 
also on the west and south 
side of the plat.

Traffic & Streets:  City streets in Middleton are built primarily by 
developers.  Black Powder Developer will be responsible for improving a 
significant portion of Cemetery Road, including pavement widening and 
installation of landscape buffer and 8’ meandering pathway. 

Developer will also construct, at its own cost, a new portion of an important 
east/west collector road known as Meadow Park Street.  In addition to this, 
Developer will install a crosswalk across the intersection of Meadow Park & 
Cemetery Road to ensure safe pedestrian access for kids who will be 
walking to the future Meadow Park School located to the east.

Developer will also pay Mid-Star 
Transportation Impact fees totalling
$530,250.00 to improve roads in and 
around Middleton.

Traffic, Access & Streets:  The intersection of Cemetery Road and State Hwy 44 is of concern 
to City Engineer and City Staff. Additionally, A review of Black Powder’s Traffic Study reveals 
that in 2023 the Cemetery Road/Hwy 44 intersection will operate at a Level of Service “D” 
(“LOS” D) at peak hours due to a difficult left turn lane.  City Code requires intersections in 
Middleton to operate at a LOS “C”, so this intersection will shortly be below minimum standards.  
To fix the “deficiency” at Cemetery Road and SH44, the Traffic Study recommended a traffic 
signal.

It should be noted, however, that the Traffic Study also states that all other intersections that 
were studied operate at acceptable standards in 2023 and will require no mitigation.

Developer recognizes City’s concerns regarding SH44 & Cemetery Road, and Developer has 
agreed to make an additional $150,000.00 “Voluntary Payment” to help rectify the situation.  
Although the extra transportation money can be used for any transportation project the City 
chooses, the monies will be justified by, and intended for, improvements to the intersection of 
SH44 & Cemetery Road.  

To further help with road improvements, Developer has also offered to pay all Mid-Star impact 
fees “up front” at each Phase’s final plat rather than piecemeal at building permit. The goal is to 
accelerate the funding of the Mid-Star program.  Paragraph 3.5 of the proposed Development 
Agreement provides that City has the option to request the fees be paid up front at each phase, 
but the City is not required to accept the fees “up front.”  (City may not want an up-front payment 
if Mid-Star fees will increase at a subsequent point in time.)  

Schools:  The Black Powder Subdivision is in the Middleton School District #134. Elementary school children will attend 
the Heights Elementary School. Superintendent Marc Gee reported recently that Heights Elementary is at 134% capacity. 
However, he also noted that the school district is actively working on some solutions. 

Forge International School submitted a comment letter and noted that they have capacity in every grade. They are also 
expanding their facility to increase their capacity from 400 students to 675 during 2023. Specifically, they will be 
constructing a new high school facility on campus.

The City has no jurisdiction or control over the School system.  Instead, the City can only support and collaborate with the 
School officials to try to address the over-crowding problem experienced by the schools.  State law does not allow impact 
fees to fund new schools. In Idaho, new schools are generally built with bonds passed by the residents. In effect, the 
residents decide whether new schools will be built or not be built. Residents in Middleton and the surrounding County 
have not approved bonds for new schools for a number of years.  

Annexation and Rezone:  Applicant is requesting that the 40 acre project be 
annexed into the City of Middleton with a zone change to R-3 “Single Family 
Residential.” There are three findings that must be made before Annexation can 
be approved: 

1) The property must be contiguous to City limits.
2) The annexation is deemed to be an “orderly development” of the City, 

allowing an “efficient and economical extension” of City services such 
as sewer, water, police/fire protection, schools and roadway system. 
(Idaho Code 50-222.)

An application for rezone requires two findings before Council can approve the 
rezone: 

1) The rezone will not adversely affect the City’s delivery of services such 
as sewer, water, schools, and roadway system. 

2) The rezone request is not in conflict with the Comprehensive Plan. 
(Idaho Code 67-6511)

1 2 3

4 5 6

7 8 9



12/13/2022

2

Annexation and Rezone:  With respect to annexation, Planning Staff finds that Applicant’s project 
meets the criteria of contiguity and the requirement that city sewer and water be available. 

Middleton Rural Fire Department has not submitted comments or otherwise noted a problem with the 
subdivision. Heights Elementary is at 134% capacity, but the school district is actively working on 
solutions to relieve the overcrowding.  

As to traffic, the Traffic Study for the project noted that all intersections operate at acceptable levels 
except Cemetery & Hwy 44 at peak hours. An interim traffic signal would rectify the deficiency, and 
Developer has agreed to pay an additional $150,000 towards the construction of that signal. 

As to the rezone application, Planning Staff finds that the rezone will not adversely affect the City’s 
ability to deliver sewer and water. Traffic and schools are impacted, however, as already noted 
above.

Finally, as will be shown below, Applicant’s project both complies with and conflicts with the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan.

Preliminary Plat Application: The preliminary plat 
shows two phases of development. Planning Staff 
finds that the proposed preliminary plat complies with 
the Idaho State Statute and all the standards and 
dimensions set forth in the City Code for the R-3 
Zone. Applicant is not requesting any variances from 
Codes and Standards.  

The preliminary plat also provides less density than is 
permitted in City Code. Black Powder’s density is 
2.61 homes per gross acre, which is less than the 3 
homes per gross acre allowed by code. (MCC 5-4-1, 
Table 2). 

Development Agreement: A Development Agreement (“DA”) Application is generally 
required for any request to rezone property. The conditions of development set forth in the 
proposed DA are:

1. Developer will develop the community generally consistent with the concept plan attached 
to the DA.  

2. Developer will stripe a crosswalk at the intersection of Cemetery Road and Meadow Park 
Street to provide safe access across Cemetery Road to the future Meadow Park School 
site.

3. Developer to provide the following amenities: playground structure, benches, and shade 
structure with at least two picnic tables. 

4. Developer shall improve the half road sections of Cemetery Road and Meadow Park 
Street at its own cost.

5. Developer to pay the $150,000 voluntary payment for additional transportation 
improvements prior to final plat approval for Phase 1. City may choose which 
transportation projects to apply the money to.

6. Developers will have two years to obtain final plat approval for Phase 1. Developer may 
seek two 1-year extensions, thereby allowing a total of 4 years to bring Phase 1 to final 
plat approval.  After Phase 1 final plat, Developer will have two years to obtain final plat 
approval for Phase 2. This time period may also be extended with two 1-year extensions. 
Failure to meet these time-lines may result in the City terminating the DA and nullifying the 
preliminary plat.  

7. Developer to construct interior local streets per the street section shown on the approved 
preliminary plat.  Instead of a 5’ wide attached sidewalk as shown in City code, Developer 
will build a 5’ wide detached sidewalk with a 7’ mow strip in between curb and sidewalk. 

Comprehensive Plan & Land Use Map:  
Applicant’s project complies with the 
Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use 
Map because the proposed R-3 zone 
correlates with the “Residential Use” 
shown on the FLUM.

As noted earlier, Applicant’s project is in conflict with Goals #1 and 
3 to provide safe roads and adequate delivery of services.  
However, the project does comply with the following Goals, 
Objectives, and Strategies of the 2019 Middleton Comprehensive 
Plan as follows:

a. Goal 4: Project creates quality lots for residential use that 
increase the quality of life and general welfare of the City as a 
whole.  

b. Goal 6: Water, sewer, and adjacent local roads will be expanded 
in an orderly manner consistent with population growth.

c. Goal 10: Project provides playgrounds, pathways and outdoor 
recreational activities.

d. Goal 11: The housing type matches the residents’ lifestyle in the 
area the project is located. 

Comments Received from Surrounding Landowners:  
Comments received from the public were attached as Exhibit “D” 
to the Staff Report for public review and Council consideration.

Comments from Agencies:  City received comments from 
COMPASS, Middleton School District #134 and ITD, and they 
were attached as Exhibit “H” to the Staff Report. We also received 
a comment from Forge School after the Agenda was posted. (Late 
Exhibit “H” on counter & in desk packet)

Comments from City Engineer and Planning Staff: Copies of 
Engineering and planning comments were attached as Exhibit “F” 
to the Staff Report.

Applicant Information:  Applicants are Adam Capell/Toll 
Brothers and Nicolette Womack/Kimley-Horn Engineering (3103 
W. Sheryl Dr. #100, Meridian 83642 / 950 W. Bannock Street, 
#1100, Boise, 83702).  Application was accepted on 1/25/2022.

Notices & Neighborhood Meeting Dates: (Public hearing was continued from November 16, 2022 to December 7, 2022)

Newspaper Notification 11/1/2022             Sign Posting 10/31/2022

Radius notice to adjacent landowners 11/1/2022             Neighborhood Meeting                 1/10/2022

Circulation to Agencies 10/31/2022

Pertinent Codes and Standards:

Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction,
Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-16, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4, and Idaho Code Title 67, Chapter 65 & Title 50, Chapters 2 and 13.

P&Z recommendation

P&Z Commission Recommendation:

The Black Powder applications were considered by the P&Z Commission in a public hearing held on September
12, 2022. The Commission recommended denial of all three applications based upon the fact that the governing
bodies will not have sufficient information to make a decision on denial or approval until after the City’s traffic
study of Hwy 44 is completed in early 2023. A copy of the Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law &
Recommendation was attached as Exhibit “G” to the Staff Report for public viewing and Council consideration.

As to Conclusions of Law, Planning Staff finds that City Council has the authority to hear these 
applications and to determine whether the applications should be denied or approved, with or 
without conditions.  Additionally, Planning Staff notes that all public notice requirements were met. 
Planning Staff further set forth the portions of the Idaho State Code and Middleton City Code to be 
considered in making a determination on the applications.   

Conclusions and Conditions of Approval:

Per State law and the Middleton City Code, any final decision and order with respect to Developer’s 
three applications must be based upon findings of facts and conclusions of law.  

As to Findings of Facts, Planning Staff has set forth findings of facts in the Staff Report and in this 
presentation. 

Annexation/rezone, Preliminary Plat, and Development Agreement Applications:  if Council is inclined to 
approve the three applications before it, then Planning Staff recommends that any approval be subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. City water, fire flow and sewer services are to be extended to serve the subdivision.
2. Developer to comply with all terms of the Development Agreement approved for the project.
3. Developer to install landscaping and all amenities in compliance with the Landscape Plan and preliminary plat 

submitted with the application.
Developer shall create a plan for operation, maintenance and repair of stormwater facilities (O&M Plan) 
contained on the project site. The O&M Plan shall be recorded with the CC&Rs. Developer and/or HOA must 
maintain and operate the subdivision stormwater facilities in compliance with the O&M Plan. 

4. Developer to comply with all conditions of approval set forth in the Staff Report for this hearing except 
Condition #7 regarding payments pursuant to MCC 5-4-3. Instead, Developer to pay a $150,000.00 Voluntary 
Payment at final plat for phase 1.

5. All City Engineer and Planner review comments are to be completed and approved.

6. All requirements of the Middleton Rural Fire District are to be completed and approved.

7. Sewer and water capacity to be reserved at the time City approves the construction drawings for the project.

If Council denies the applications, then Council should explain what Applicant can do, if anything, to obtain an 
approval.

10 11 12

13 14 15

16 17 18





 

EXHIBIT “3” 



Black Powder Subdivision



Applicant Team
ADAM R. CAPELL
Toll Brothers
Meridian, ID

NICOLETTE WOMACK, AICP
Kimley-Horn
Boise, Idaho

KYLE PREWETT
Toll Brothers
Meridian, ID

MICHAEL O'REILLY, PE
Kimley-Horn
Boise, Idaho

BRANDON MCDOUGALD 
P.E., LEED AP 
Kimley-Horn
Boise, Idaho

LAUREN NUXOLL, PE PTOE
Kittelson & Associates, Inc.
Boise, Idaho

SONIA HENNUM DALEIDEN, PE PTOE
Kittelson & Associates, Inc.
Boise, Idaho

JEFF BOWER
GIVENS PURSLEY LLP
Boise, Idaho





Before You Tonight
• Annexation & Rezone 

• Preliminary Plat

• Development Agreement



JUN 2021 –
Pre-App 
Meeting

SEPT 2021 –
Pre-App 
Meeting

JAN 2022 –
Neighborhood 

Meeting

APR 2022 –
Application 
Submitted

SEPT 2022 –
P&Z Hearing

DEC 2022 –
CC Hearing

Timeline

Jun/Jul 2022 
Moratorium



FALL 2022 
Design Start

FALL-SPRING 
2024 

Construction
SUMMER 2024 

Recording
FALL 2024 

Home Building

SUMMER 2025 
Occupancy 

Phase 1 
(49 lots)

FALL 2028 
Full Build Out 

Phase 2 
(56 lots)

Future Tentative Timeline



Vicinity 
Map
• 40.28 acres

WEST HIGHLANDS RANCH

WEST HIGHLANDS 
RANCHSTONEHAVEN

DEL ROSARIO 
ESTATES

CROSSFIRE 
RANCH

FLOWER ESTATES

TAPESTRY

FIELDSTONE

WILLIS 
CREEK

PURPLE SAGE 
RANCHETTES

FAISAN 
POINTE

GREEN ESTATES

ESTATES AT 
MEADOW PARK

ESTATES AT 
WEST HIGHLANDS

POWDER 
RIVER

ELK 
ACRES

WEST HIGHLANDS 
RANCH

BRIDGER CREEK

WILLOW 
WOOD

SITE



Future Land Use Map



Zoning Map



Black 
Powder
Property Size: 40.28 acres

Total Units: 105

Density: 2.61 du/acre

Average 
Lot Size:

10,159 sq ft

MEADOW PARK STREET

CE
M

ET
ER

Y 
RO

AD



Black 
Powder
Phase 1: 49 lots

Phase 2: 56 lots

PHASE 1 

PHASE 2 



Black 
Powder
Qualified 
Open Space:

8.41% or 3.39 acres

Open Space: 12.49% or 5.03 acres

Amenities Large Park w/ play 
structure, shade 
ramada, benches and 
pathways



Central Amenity



Concept Entry Monument 

• Consistent with West Highlands Ranch



Conceptual 
Elevations



Key Transportation Findings



Initial 
Transportation 
Contributions

• Meadow Park Street 
1/2 Street Construction 
(Leads to Future 
School Site) - $492,000

• Crosswalk on 
Cemetery Road (Leads 
to Future School Site) -
$20,000

• Cemetery Road 
Frontage 
Improvements -
$327,000

MEADOW PARK STREET

CE
M

ET
ER

Y 
RO

AD



Total 
Transportation 
Contributions

IMPROVEMENT COST

Meadow Park ½ Street $492,000

Cemetery Rd Crosswalk $20,000

Cemetery Rd 
Improvements

$327,000

Mid Star 
Transportation 

Impact Fee 

$530,000

Voluntary Roadway 
Payment 

$150,000

TOTAL: $1,519,000



Requested Action
• Approval for the Annexation & Rezone, Preliminary Plat and 

Development Agreement



School 
District 
Comments



Charter 
Schools



Annexation 
Findings
1. The property must be 

contiguous to City limits.

2. The annexation is 
deemed to be an 
“orderly development” of 
the City allowing 
“efficient and economical 
extension” of City 
services such as sewer, 
water, police/fire  
protection, schools and 
roadway system. (Idaho 
Code 50-222)



Rezone 
Findings

1. The rezone will not adversely affect the City’s 
delivery of services.

2. The rezone request is not in conflict with the 
Comprehensive Plan. (Idaho Code 67-6511)



Comprehensive Plan

• Goal 3 calls for providing safe vehicle and pedestrian facilities. The 
plat includes no individual driveway access to high-capacity roads 
and includes sidewalks consistent with adjacent subdivisions. 

• Goal 4 calls for establishing a good quality of life with development 
that pays through impact fees and property taxes for the public 
services it receives when infrastructure is installed. 

• Goal 5 calls for development adjacent similar existing development 
properly utilizing existing infrastructure.



Street Sections



 

EXHIBIT “4” 



12/16/2022

1

Proposed 
Amendments to 
Middleton City 

Code

 Because of the changing nature of 
commercial goods and services, 
Cities are allowing “Flex Space” 
land uses. Flex Space is a hybrid 
mix of light industrial use combined 
with commercial, retail and/or office 
uses.

 Flex Space buildings have an 
enhanced front elevation and
“working” rear elevation.  It has 
customer service or attractive 
offices up front but warehousing, 
roll up doors, and distribution 
center in the rear.

 Examples would be a flooring 
company with a nice showroom up 
front but carpet warehouse and 
distribution space in the rear.

FLEX SPACE 
(MCC 1-3-1, 5-4-1, Table 1 & 4-5-11):

FLEX SPACE – Some Examples

• Enhanced Front
• Working Rear
• Pedestrian Traffic
• Higher-end 

Industrial Product

Hybrid Use

Pretty in front 
Ugly in rear

Hybrid Use

Office or reception up front 
Distribution in rear

Hybrid Use

Showroom up front 
Construction in rear

FLEX SPACE FLEX SPACE – Also mixes uses
in a single project:

• Restaurant
• Carpet Distribution
• Crossfit Gym

FLEX SPACE – Mixed Uses

• Medical facility
• Lighting Store & 

Processing Center
• Small Plumbing Co.
• Twilight Zone

1 2 3

4 5 6

7 8 9



12/16/2022

2

MCC 1-3-1 DEFINITIONS: 
Before “Flex Space” can be added to City Code, it must be defined in the “Definition” Section of the Code (MCC 1-3-1). After that, the defined term 
must be added to the Land Use Table (MCC 5-4-1, Table 1), where the use is deemed either “Allowed”, “Special Use Permit”, or “Prohibited.”

Proposed Definition:
FLEX SPACE:  a building or multi-use project used for small-scale warehousing and light industrial activity combined with office, retail, 
and/or other commercial uses.  Individual units or buildings may be used entirely for a commercial, retail, or office use, but any 
warehousing and/or light industrial use cannot exceed 70% of the total square footage of the building or individual unit.  Flex Space 
does not include mini-warehouse storage, individual storage space for rent, or a use that involves a high level of truck and loading 
activity.

Front and street-side elevations are enhanced with more architectural detail, including variations in roof form, building height, and 
building materials in addition to an increased use of glass and architectural features involving wood, faux wood, and/or metal. Entries 
are easily identifiable with projecting or recessed forms and additional architectural detail.  

Loading docks and industrial roll-up/garage doors are located on only the rear and non-street sides of the flex space. However, glass 
sliding doors and architectural garage doors enhanced with significant amounts of glass, metal and/or faux wood can be located on 
the front elevation if they enhance the aesthetic of the front elevation.    

Land Use Table (MCC 5-4-1, Table 1):  (con’t)

**Note:  On this proposed version of the Land Use Table, Flex Space uses will be allowed in the 
Mixed-Use Zone.  This means that the light industrial uses may be intermixed with residential uses 
like townhomes or apartments.  However, a Flex Space use will not be allowed without first going 
through the special use permit process to ensure residential users are protected from nuisance 
activity…etc. 

FLEX SPACE PARKING REQUIREMENT:   MCC 4-5-11(B) 

Adding a new land use to the code will often trigger a need for parking 
requirements. Staff is proposing a requirement of 1 parking stall per 350 s.f. of 
floor space. This parking requirement is a combination of the low number of 
parking stalls normally needed for an industrial use and the high number of 
stalls needed for a retail/commercial use.  One stall per 350 s.f., hits that “middle 
ground” between the two types of uses.

Added roads and clarity to ROW
Matrix

MOBILE FOOD TRUCK SERVICE   MCC 1-3-1 & 5-4-1, Table 1

Food Truck Service as a “land use” is not contemplated in our Code. To add it, we must first define the use and 
then drop it into our Land Use Table.  Proposed Definition: 

MOBILE FOOD TRUCK SERVICE:  A vehicle or a readily portable structure used solely 
for the purpose of preparing and selling food and beverages to the public at large. Food 
trucks used for catering a single event for pay is not included in this definition.  

Food Trucks are appropriate in commercial and industrial zones, but they can be intrusive in Residential Zones. 
In order to ensure that Food Truck Service would not be intrusive to residential neighborhoods found in the 
“Mixed-Use” Zone, Staff recommends footnote #9 to the Land Use Table as follows:

9. A Mobile Food Truck in the Mixed-Use (M-U) Zone cannot be parked closer than 250’ to the nearest 
residential unit.  Mobile Food Truck Service is an allowed use at any school or public park located 
within any Residential Zone when tied to a specific event at the school or park. 

This Footnote 9 would also address special events at parks or schools located in a residential zone that occur 
on a one-time basis only. This would apply to such things as a special outdoor market in a City park or end of 
school celebration in the school yard…etc.  

**Ice Cream Man may be affected.

MCC 5-4-1, Table 1 CLEAN UP

All Developers must conduct a neighborhood meeting prior to submitting any land use 
application. Earlier this year, Council amended the Code to require developers to 
extend notice of a land use applications to folks residing within 500’ of the project’s 
perimeter boundary. Previous distance was only 300’. Planning Staff failed to get the 
same extended notice requirement instituted for public hearing notice mailed by Staff. 
So, for the sake of a little code clean-up, the same change needs to be made to MCC 
5-4-4(A):wner Notice (MCC 5-4-4(A):

A. Application: In addition to the application requirements in 
subsection 1-14-2A of this Code, an applicant shall file with the City: 
a copy of the complete application, fees, one (1) electronic full-size 
PDF copy, and two (2) full-sized copies of the preliminary plat with 
data as required in this section, and a title report or commitment for 
title insurance, including schedule B, indicating the nature of the 
applicant's ownership of land included in the preliminary plat. The 
City, at least fifteen (15) calendar days before the initial public 
hearing, shall mail to landowners within five three hundred feet 
(5300') of the external boundaries of the lands to be subdivided a 
notice that the City received an application, the number of acres and 
proposed number of residential, non-residential, and total lots, 
proposed land uses, and the dates and times that the application 
can be reviewed at City offices. After all City comments are 
addressed by the applicant, and prior to any public hearing on the 
plat, the applicant shall submit one (1) electronic full-size PDF copy 
to the City.

MORE CLEAN UP
Councilwoman Huggins

1-14-1 NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING:

….

C. Meeting Standards: 

1. Neighborhood meetings may shall be conducted Monday 
through Thursday only, except meetings may not be held on a 
holiday or on the day before a holiday. All neighborhood meetings 
must start between 6 p.m. and 8 p.m. 

Words Matter

Clarifies that actual paving is 
required not recycled asphalt.

Engineer beefed up 
requirement to design to City 
Stormwater Standards.

4-5-7: HARD SURFACING:

Off street parking areas, driveways and private roads shall be hard surfaced with 
concrete or asphalt paving and shall have on site stormwater treatment facilities 
designed per the City’s stormwater management policy and ordinance. 12 MONTH BONDING:

Adds time expiration for 
bonding:  12 months.

Extension language added.

Added “fencing” to items that 
could be bonded. 

5-4-7: FINAL PLAT:

A. …
…

3. The City Council may accept an irrevocable letter of credit, cashier's check or other
bond guarantee in the amount of one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the estimated costs to
ensure completion of only landscaping, and irrigation system, and fencing improvements in the
event that inclement weather precludes the successful installation of said improvements.
landscaping and irrigation. A bonded improvement must be completed within twelve (12) months
of the approval of the final plat, and the bond will not be released until the improvement is
completed and approved by the City. Failure to complete the improvement within said time
frame shall give the City the authority, at its sole discretion, to exercise the bond and complete
the improvement with funds derived therefrom. The City Council may grant an extension to a
developer to accommodate unavoidable delays impacting the developer, but only if the
developer requests such an extension at least sixty (60) days prior to the date on which the
improvement is required to be completed.

10 11 12

13 14 15

16 17 18



12/16/2022

3

Main purpose:  clarify language so 
no question that Developers will 
construct frontage improvements 
and dedicate them to the City.

Clarified frontage requirements in a 
phased development. Code was 
confusing.  (Off-Site 5-4-4(C) 

5-4-10-2: ROADS:

A. Road Design Requirements: Roads, including collectors as designated by the City of Middleton, 
shall be designed incorporating the principles of balanced blocks, curvilinear layout, City approved 
access points, minimization of cul-de-sacs, and connectivity throughout the development and to 
adjacent properties.

B. Frontage Roads: Where a subdivision/development abuts or contains an existing or proposed 
arterial road, railroad or limited access highway, the City may require frontage roads, or such other 
treatment for the appropriate use of the lot.

C. Adjacent Streets Half Road Dedication:

1. The developer is responsible for improving all street frontages adjacent to the development 
site or internal to the development as required below, regardless of whether access is taken 
to all of the adjacent streets.  

2. All utility relocation costs, including irrigation relocation costs, associated with improving 
street frontages adjacent to the site shall be borne by the developer.

3. Developer/Owner shall dedicate, without compensation, additional right-of-way to provide
the right-of-way width required by City code and standards.  

4. In a phased project, adjacent streets shall be improved and dedicated on a phase-by-phase 
basis up to phase three (3).  Any adjacent street improvements for phases four (4) and above 
shall be constructed and dedicated no later than phase three (3) final plat approval unless 
otherwise approved by City Council.  City Council may, at its discretion, require improvement 
and dedication of all adjacent streets by Phase one (1) final plat approval.

In this paragraph, Engineer and Staff 
outlined specific standards for the ½ 
road frontage improvements

Paragraph ii clarifies that if the 
frontage improvements are already 
constructed, Developer may still 
have to repair any deficiencies or 
make improvements to bring the 
frontage up to standard.

5-4-10-2: ROADS:  (con’t)

5. Required Improvements:

a. Adjacent Streets (Existing or New):  

i. Required improvements to an adjacent street shall consist of pavement widening to 
one-half the required width, including curb, gutter and sidewalk (minimum eight (8’) 
foot detached or five (5’) foot attached), plus twelve (12’) feet of additional pavement 
widening beyond the centerline established for the street to provide an adequate 
roadway surface.  City Council may approve an amount less than twelve (12) foot for 
pavement widening past centerline if the one-half road design does not require all of 
the twelve (12) foot pavement allotment to create an adequate roadway surface. 
Pavement shall be crowned at the ultimate centerline. A three (3’) foot wide gravel 
shoulder and a borrow ditch sized to accommodate the roadway storm runoff shall be 
constructed on the unimproved side. The shoulder and borrow on the unimproved side 
may be eliminated if ownership or site conditions prevent or unreasonably impede 
construction of the same.

ii. Minor improvements to existing streets adjacent to a proposed development project 
may be required. These improvements are to correct deficiencies or replace 
deteriorated facilities. Included are sidewalk construction or replacement; curb and 
gutter construction or replacement; replacement of unused driveways with curb, gutter 
and sidewalk; installation or reconstruction of pedestrian ramps; pavement repairs; 
signs; traffic control devices; and other similar items.

Added roads and clarity to ROW
Matrix

5-4-10-2: ROADS:  (con’t)

Added roads and clarity to ROW
Matrix

5-4-10-2: ROADS:  (con’t)

Berm loop hole fixed

Common lot option only

5-4-10-6: TRAFFIC BUFFER REQUIREMENTS:
The purpose of a traffic buffer is to reduce the visual impact of collector and arterial roadways on a 
residential area. A combination of the following shall be used: a) solid fence or wall; b) berm; and c) 
landscaping.

A. Buffer Dimensions: Traffic buffers shall be accomplished by a combination of berm (varying height: 
minimum 3 feet, maximum 5 feet; 2.5:1 side slopes measured from adjacent street top back of curb) 
and fence (varying height) to a total height of not less than nine feet (9') or greater than eleven feet 
(11') in a twenty four foot (24') (minimum) easement common lot dedicated for traffic buffer area. 
Traffic buffers shall be harmonious with adjacent screening techniques, materials, and colors.

Closed loop hole for commercial 
uses listed in the M-U zone

5-4-10-7 LANDSCAPE BUFFERS:

A. When a commercial land use that is listed as an allowed use or special use in the C-1 Zone
zoned C-1 (Neighborhood Commercial) of the Land Use Schedule (5-4-1, Table 1) directly 
abuts a residential use, a twenty foot (20’) wide landscaped buffer shall be installed between 
the uses. If deemed necessary, the City may require the commercial parcel to include a privacy 
fence and/or berm.

B. When a commercial land use that is listed as an allowed or special use in the zoned C-2 or C-3 
zones or when any industrial use directly abuts a residential use, a twenty five foot (25’) 
landscape buffer shall be installed between the uses. If deemed necessary, the City may 
require the commercial parcel to include a privacy fence and/or berm.

Comprehensive Plan:  Any changes to the City’s Zoning Ordinance or Subdivision Ordinance must 
be in compliance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan. (Idaho State Statute 67-6511 & MCC 1-14-3.)  

Planning Staff finds that all proposed changes are in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan 
because nothing proposed is in conflict with requirements shown on any Comprehensive Plan 
Map. Additionally, none of the proposed changes conflict with any “Goals, Objectives or 
Strategies” set forth in the Comprehensive Plan.  Additionally, none of the proposed changes 
conflict with the requirements of LLUPA (the “Local Land Use Planning Act found at Idaho State 
Code, Title 67, Chapter 65). Finally, the proposed changes comply with the following Goals, 
Objectives, and Strategies of the 2019 Middleton Comprehensive Plan:

a. Goal 3: The proposed changes help provide safe vehicle and pedestrian facilities with 
ample pathways and safe roadway designs.

b. Goal 4: Proposed changes enhance the quality of life with open space and appropriate 
buffers between residential uses and more intensive uses. 

Comments Received from Surrounding Landowners:  None.

Comments from Agencies: Comments from CHD4 were attached at Exhibit “B” to the Staff Report for 
Council consideration and Public viewing.

Notices: Dates:

 Newspaper Notification 11/22/2022
 Circulation to Agencies 11/21/2022
 Posted on Public Hearing Tab on City Website 11/21/2022

Applicable Codes & Standards: Idaho State Statue Title 67, Chapter 65.  Idaho Standards for Public 
Works Construction and Middleton’s Supplement thereto. Middleton City Code 1-3, 1-14, 4-5m 5-1 & 5-
4.

P&Z Commission Recommendation

The Planning & Zoning Commission considered these proposed code amendments in two separate public hearings on 
June 13 & October 17, 2022. The Commission recommended approval of all proposed code amendments with the 
following additional recommendations:

1. The definition for “Flex Space” in section 1-3-1 should be “tightened up” and revised to better define the type of 
industrial uses versus other uses to be contained in the “Flex Space.”

2. City Council should consider the advisability of allowing “Flex Space” uses in the Mixed-Use Zone where residential 
units are located.

3. Add the word “paved” before the words “pedestrian facility” in Section 5-4-10-2(C)(5)(b). 

19 20 21

22 23 24

25 26 27



12/16/2022

4

Conclusion & Recommendations

Per State law, City Council should base any decision on general facts and 
conclusions of law.  

Planning Staff has set forth above findings that the proposed code changes 
do not conflict with the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

As to conclusions of law, Planning Staff finds that City Council has the authority to hear this application and to 
approve or deny the application.  Additionally, Planning Staff finds that all public notice requirements were met. 
Planning Staff further set forth the portions of the Idaho State Code and Middleton City Code to be considered in 
making a decision on the application.   

If the Council is inclined to approve the proposed code changes, Planning Staff does not recommend any conditions 
of approval.   

28











 
 

1 
 

 

Middleton City Council 
Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law, and Decision & Order 
 
 

 

 

 
 
In the Matter of the Application of IAG Hidden Mill, LLC (successor in interest to IAG, LLC) and 
Bob Unger of Unger Enterprises LLC for preliminary plat with respect to Hidden Mill 
Subdivision located at 0 Main Street, Middleton, ID (Tax Parcel No. R33891010).   
 

A. Findings of Fact:   
 

1. Hearing Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022, which Staff 
Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

2. Process Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022 (Exhibit 
“A”). 

 
3. Application and Property Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 

2022, (Exhibit “A”). 
 

4. Required Findings per Idaho State Statue Title 67, Chapter 65, and Title 50, Chapter 
13, Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction and Middleton Supplement thereto, 
and Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4:  See Staff Report for the 
hearing date of December 7, 2022 (Exhibit “A”). 
 

B. Conclusions of Law: 
 

1. That the City of Middleton has the authority to exercise the powers conferred upon it by 
the “Local Land Use Planning Act of 1975,” codified at Chapter 65, Title 67, Idaho Code 
(I.C. §67-6503). 
 

2. That the City of Middleton properly exercised said authority. 
 

3. That due consideration has been given to the comments received from the 
governmental subdivisions providing services in the City of Middleton planning 
jurisdiction, comments received from individuals of the public, and comments from City 
Planning Staff and City Engineer. 

 
4. That public facilities and services required by the proposed development will not 

impose expense upon the public if the attached conditions of approval are imposed.  
 

5. That notice of the application and public hearing was given according to law.   
 

6. That City Council’s public hearing was conducted according to law, and the City has 
kept a record of the application and related documents.  

 
7. That codes and standards applicable to the application are the Idaho Standards for 

Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for 
Public Works Construction, and Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4 



             
        

2 
 

and Idaho Code, Title 67, Chapter 65 and Title 50, Chapter 13. 
 

C. Decision and Order: 
 

Pursuant to the City Council’s authority as provided in Middleton City Code 1-5-2, and based 
upon the above Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, it is hereby decided and ordered: 
 

That the application of IAG Hidden Mill, LLC for preliminary plat is approved subject to 
the conditions of approval set forth in the Staff Report for the December 7, 2022, public 
hearing. 
 

 
WRITTEN ORDER APPROVED ON: December _____, 2022. 
 
 
 
            
      Steven J. Rule 
      Mayor, City of Middleton 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
      
Roberta Stewart 
Planning and Zoning Official 
 
 
 
Please take notice that pursuant to MCC 1-14-2(E)(10), applicant shall have 14 days after a 
signed final decision to request reconsideration by the final-decision maker. Such request 
must identify specific deficiencies in the final decision. Failure to request reconsideration 
may invalidate a subsequent judicial appeal.  
 
Additionally, pursuant to Idaho State Statute 67-6521, any affected person aggrieved by a 
final decision may, within 28 days after all remedies have been exhausted under local 
ordinances, seek judicial review as provided in chapter 52, Title 67.  

 
Finally, please take notice that Applicant has a right to request a regulatory taking analysis 
pursuant to Idaho State Statute section 67-8003. 
 

 

https://legislature.idaho.gov/statutesrules/idstat/Title67/T67CH80/SECT67-8003


 
 
 
 
 

1 
 

 

                            Middleton City Council 
                   Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law & Order 
 
 

 

 

                          
 
 
 
 
 
In the Matter of the applications of Adam Capell/Toll Brothers and Nicolette Womack/Kimley-
Horn Engineering for annexation/rezone, development agreement, and preliminary plat with 
respect to the Black Powder Subdivision located at 0 Cemetery Road, Middleton, Idaho (Tax 
Parcel No. R382070): 

 
A. Findings of Fact:   

 
1. Hearing Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022, which 

Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

2. Process Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022, Exhibit “A”. 
 

3. Application and Property Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 
2022, Exhibit “A”. 

 
4. Required Findings per Idaho State Statue Title 67, Chapter 65, Idaho Standards for 

Public Works Construction and Middleton Supplement thereto, Middleton City Code 1-
14, 1-15, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3 & 5-4 and Title 50, Chapters 2 and 13:  See Staff Report for the 
hearing date of December 7, 2022, Exhibit “A”. 
 

B. Conclusions of Law: 
 

1. That the City of Middleton has exercised the powers conferred upon it by the “Local 
Land Use Planning Act of 1975,” codified at Chapter 65, Title 67, Idaho Code (I.C. §67-
6503). 
 

2. That due consideration has been given to the comments received from the 
governmental subdivisions providing services in the City of Middleton planning 
jurisdiction, comments received from individuals of the public, and comments from City 
Planning Staff and City Engineer. 

 
3. That notice of the application and public hearing was given according to law.   

 
4. That City Council’s public hearing was conducted according to law, and City has kept a 

record of the application and related documents.  
 

5. That codes and standards pertinent to the application are the Idaho Standards for 
Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for 
Public Works Construction, and Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4 
and Idaho Code Idaho Code Title 67, Chapter 65 and Idaho Code Title 50, chapters 2 
and 13. 

 



             
        

2 
 

 
6. That public facilities and services required by the proposed development will not 

impose expense upon the public if the attached conditions of approval are imposed.  
 

7. That this order is subject to the Conditions of Approval set forth in the attached Staff 
Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022,(Exhibit “A”), except condition #7, 
which was revised to require only a “Voluntary Payment” of $150,000.00. 

 
8. That codes and standards pertinent to the application are the Idaho Standards for 

Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for 
Public Works Construction, Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4 and 
Idaho Code Title 67, Chapter 65 and Idaho Code Title 50, chapters 2 and 13. 

 
C. Decision & Order: 

 
Pursuant to City Council’s authority as provided in Middleton City Code 1-5-2, and based upon 
the above Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, it is hereby ordered that: 
 

1. The application of Adam Capell/Toll Brothers for annexation and rezone of the Black 
Powder project parcel is approved subject to the conditions of approval set forth in the 
Staff Report for the December 7, 2022, public hearing. 

 
2. The application of Adam Capell/Toll Brothers for preliminary plat is approved subject to the 

conditions of approval set forth in the Staff Presentation and in the Staff Report except for 
the changes noted to condition number 7 of the Staff Report. 
 

3. The application of Adam Capell/Toll Brothers for development agreement is approved 
subject to the conditions of approval set forth in the Staff Presentation and in the Staff 
Report except for the changes noted to condition number 7 of the Staff Report.  

 
 

WRITTEN ORDER APPROVED ON: _________________, 2022. 
 
 
 
            
      Steven J. Rules 
      Mayor, City of Middleton  
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
      
Roberta Stewart 
Planning and Zoning Official 



             
        

3 
 

 
Please take notice that pursuant to MCC 1-14-2(E)(10), applicant shall have 14 days after a 
signed final decision to request reconsideration by the final-decision maker. Such request 
must identify specific deficiencies in the final decision. Failure to request reconsideration 
may invalidate a subsequent judicial appeal. Additionally, pursuant to Idaho State Statute 
67-6521, any affected person aggrieved by a final decision may, within 28 days after all 
remedies have been exhausted under local ordinances, seek judicial review as provided in 
chapter 52, Title 67.  

 
Additionally, please take notice that Applicant has a right to request a regulatory taking 
analysis pursuant to Idaho State Statute section 67-8003. 
 
 

https://legislature.idaho.gov/statutesrules/idstat/Title67/T67CH80/SECT67-8003


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 







E
E

T
T

STATE HIGHWAY 44

H
A

R
T

L
E

Y
 L

A
N

E



ONLY S H -4 4 ONLY LnH a rt l ey



ONLY
S H -4 4

ONLY LnH a rt l ey



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 



Ordinance 673 Amending Titles 1, 4, and 5 - Page 1 of 9 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 673 

 
AN ORDINANCE ENACTED BY THE MIDDLETON CITY COUNCIL, CITY OF 
MIDDLETON, COUNTY OF CANYON, STATE OF IDAHO, AMENDING THE 
MIDDLETON CITY CODE TITLE 1, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 1-3-1 REGARDING 
DEFINITIONS FOR FLEX SPACE AND MOBILE FOOD TRUCK SERVICE; AMENDING 
TITLE 1, CHAPTER 14, SECTION 1-14-1 REGARDING ALLOWABLE TIMES FOR 
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS; AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 5, SECTION 4-5-7 
REGARDING HARD PAVEMENT SURFACES; AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 5, 
SECTION 4-5-11 REGARDING PARKING REQUIREMENTS FOR FLEX SPACES; 
AMENDING TITLE 5, CHAPTER 4, SECTION 5-4-1, TABLE 1 TO ADD FLEX SPACE USE 
AND MOBILE FOOD TRUCK SERVICE USE TO LAND USE SCHEDULE; AMENDING 
TITLE 5, CHAPTER 4, SECTION 5-4-4 REGARDING EXPANSION OF PUBLIC HEARING 
RADIUS NOTICE FOR LANDOWNERS; AMENDING TITLE 5, CHAPTER 4, SECTION 5-
4-7 REGARDING BONDING FOR FINAL PLAT APPROVAL; AMENDING TITLE 5, 
CHAPTER 4, SECTION 5-4-10-2 REGARDING TECHNICAL CHANGES FOR ROAD 
STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS; AMENDING TITLE 5, CHAPTER 4, SECTION 5-4-
10-6 REGARDING CHANGES TO TRAFFIC BUFFERS; AMENDING TITLE 5, CHAPTER 
4, SECTION 5-4-10-7 REGARDING LANDSCAPE BUFFERS BETWEEN USES; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES, RESOLUTIONS, ORDERS AND PARTS THEREOF, IN 
CONFLICT HEREWITH. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Middleton, Idaho, is a municipal corporation organized and operating 
under the laws of the State of Idaho, and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Middleton, Idaho, seeks to update the provisions of its subdivision 
ordinance and zoning ordinance; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City held a public hearing, noticed and conducted in accordance with Idaho law, 
before the Planning & Zoning Commission on June 13, and October 17, 2022 and held a public 
hearing, noticed and conducted in accordance with Idaho law, before the City Council on 
December 7, 2022; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1:   That Title 1, Chapter 3, Section 1-3-1 of the Middleton City Code is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
1-3-1 DEFINITIONS, GENERAL: 
 
FIREARM: Any instrument used in the propulsion of shot, shells, bullets or other harmful 
objects by the action of gunpowder exploded within it, or release of pressurized gas, compressed 
air, expanding gas, accelerant, spring or other force producing means including, but not limited 



Ordinance 673 Amending Titles 1, 4, and 5 - Page 2 of 9 

to, what are commonly known as air rifles, BB guns, spring guns, wrist rockets, airsoft guns, 
pellet guns, paintball guns, bows, compound bows, crossbows and recurve bows. Firearm also 
includes the frame or receiver of any such weapon, any firearm muffler or silencer, or any 
destructive device, including, but not limited to, a bomb, grenade, rocket, missile, mine or 
similar device. 
 
FLEX SPACE:  a building or multi-use project used for small-scale warehousing and light 
industrial activity combined with office, retail, and/or other commercial uses.  Individual units or 
buildings may be used entirely for a commercial, retail, or office use, but any warehousing 
and/or light industrial use cannot exceed 70% of the total square footage of the building or 
individual unit.  Flex Space does not include mini-warehouse storage, individual storage space 
for rent, or a use that involves a high level of truck and loading activity. 
 
Front and street-side elevations are enhanced with more architectural detail, including variations 
in roof form, building height, and building materials in addition to an increased use of glass and 
architectural features involving wood, faux wood, and/or metal.  Entries are easily identifiable 
with projecting or recessed forms and additional architectural detail.  
  
Loading docks and industrial roll-up/garage doors are located on only the rear and non-street 
sides of the flex space. However, glass sliding doors and architectural garage doors enhanced 
with significant amounts of glass, metal and/or faux wood can be located on the front elevation if 
they enhance the aesthetic of the front elevation.   
   
FLOOD TERMS:Area Of Shallow Flood Hazard: A designated AO or AH zone in the flood 
insurance rate map (FIRM). The base flood depths range from one foot to three feet (1' - 3')…. 
 
// // // 
 
MANUFACTURED HOMES:  Accessory Structure: A structure attached to or located adjacent 
to a manufactured home, such as awnings, carports, garages, porches or steps….  
        
MOBILE FOOD TRUCK SERVICE:  A vehicle or a readily portable structure used solely for 
the purpose of preparing and selling food and beverages to the public at large. Food trucks used 
for catering a single event for pay is not included in this definition.   
 
MOBILE HOME: A detached single-family dwelling unit having all the following 
characteristics: A detached single-family dwelling unit having all the following characteristics: 
 
 
Section 2:  That Title 1, Chapter 14, Section 1-14-1 of the Middleton City Code is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
1-14-1 NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING: 
  
A. Neighborhood Meeting Requirements: … 

 



Ordinance 673 Amending Titles 1, 4, and 5 - Page 3 of 9 

B. Notice of Meeting: … 
 
C.  Meeting Standards:  
 
1. Neighborhood meetings may shall be conducted Monday through Thursday only, except 
meetings may not be held on a holiday or on the day before a holiday. All neighborhood 
meetings must start between 6 p.m. and 8 p.m.  
 
 
Section 3: That Title 4, Chapter 5, Section 4-5-7 of the Middleton City Code is hereby 
amended as follows:   
 
4-5-7: HARD SURFACING: 
 
Off street parking areas, driveways and private roads shall be hard surfaced with concrete or 
asphalt paving and shall have on site stormwater treatment facilities designed per the City’s 
stormwater management policy and ordinance.  
 

Section 4: That Title 4, Chapter 5, Section 4-5-11 of the Middleton City Code is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
4-5-11: REQUIRED PARKING AND LOADING SPACES  

A. Space Dimensions:…. 
 

B. Number of Spaces: Off street parking and loading spaces shall be provided as 
hereinafter set forth; provided, that a greater number of spaces may be required in any 
case where a special use permit is involved: 

 

 

 
      

 
 
 

 
 
Section 5: That Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-1, Table 1 of the Middleton City Code is 
hereby amended as follows: 
 
5-4-1: LAND USE, SETBACK AND AREA TABLES: 
 
The regulations in the following tables shall apply to zoning districts: 
 

PARKING SPACES 
 
Manufacturing businesses 1 parking space for each employee, based on the 

greatest number of employees at any one time; 1 
parking space for each 3 visitors 

Flex Space/Building 1 stall per 350 square feet of gross floor space. 
Swimming pools 1 parking space for each 4 swimmers/observers 



Ordinance 673 Amending Titles 1, 4, and 5 - Page 4 of 9 

TABLE 1 
LAND USE SCHEDULE 
 
A=Allowed uses                           S=Special uses 

 
 
 

 
 

Notes: 
1. Accessory uses are permitted if constructed either at the same time or subsequent 

to the main building; they are prohibited from being constructed before the main 
building. 
 

2. …. 
 

9. A Mobile Food Truck in the Mixed-Use (M-U) Zone cannot be parked closer than 
250’ to the nearest residential unit.  Mobile Food Truck Service is an allowed use 
at any school or public park located within any Residential Zone when tied to a 
specific event at the school or park.  

 
 
Section 6: That Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-4 of the Middleton City Code is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 

5-4-4: PRELIMINARY PLAT 
 

A.   Application: In addition to the application requirements in subsection 1-14-2A of this 
Code, an applicant shall file with the City: a copy of the complete application, fees, one 
(1) electronic full-size PDF copy, and two (2) full-sized copies of the preliminary plat 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/middletonid/latest/middleton_id/0-0-0-476#JD_1-14-2


Ordinance 673 Amending Titles 1, 4, and 5 - Page 5 of 9 

with data as required in this section, and a title report or commitment for title insurance, 
including schedule B, indicating the nature of the applicant's ownership of land included 
in the preliminary plat. The City, at least fifteen (15) calendar days before the initial 
public hearing, shall mail to landowners within five three hundred feet (5300') of the 
external boundaries of the lands to be subdivided a notice that the City received an 
application, the number of acres and proposed number of residential, non-residential, and 
total lots, proposed land uses, and the dates and times that the application can be 
reviewed at City offices. After all City comments are addressed by the applicant, and 
prior to any public hearing on the plat, the applicant shall submit one (1) electronic full-
size PDF copy to the City. 

 
 
Section 7: That Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-7 of the Middleton City Code is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
5-4-7: FINAL PLAT: 
 

A. Application 
 
1. … 

 
2. … 

 
3. The City Council may accept an irrevocable letter of credit, cashier's check or other bond 

guarantee in the amount of one hundred fifty percent (150%) two hundred percent (200%) of the 
estimated costs to ensure completion of only landscaping, and irrigation system, and fencing 
improvements in the event that inclement weather precludes the successful installation of said 
improvements. landscaping and irrigation. A bonded improvement must be completed within 
twelve (12) months of the approval of the final plat, and the bond will not be released until the 
improvement is completed and approved by the City.  Failure to complete the improvement within 
said time frame shall give the City the authority, at its sole discretion, to exercise the bond and 
complete the improvement with funds derived therefrom. The City Council may grant an extension 
to a developer to accommodate unavoidable delays impacting the developer, but only if the 
developer requests such an extension at least sixty (60) days prior to the date on which the 
improvement is required to be completed.  
 
 
Section 8: That Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-10-2 of the Middleton City Code is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
5-4-10-2: ROADS: 
 
   A.   Road Design Requirements: Roads, including collectors as designated by the City of 
Middleton, shall be designed incorporating the principles of balanced blocks, curvilinear layout, 
City approved access points, minimization of cul-de-sacs, and connectivity throughout the 
development and to adjacent properties. 



Ordinance 673 Amending Titles 1, 4, and 5 - Page 6 of 9 

   B.   Frontage Roads: Where a subdivision/development abuts or contains an existing or 
proposed arterial road, railroad or limited access highway, the City may require frontage roads, 
or such other treatment for the appropriate use of the lot. 
 
   C.   Adjacent Streets Half Road Dedication: 
 

1. The developer is responsible for improving all street frontages adjacent to the 
development site or internal to the development as required below, regardless of whether 
access is taken to all of the adjacent streets.   
 

2. All utility relocation costs, including irrigation relocation costs, associated with 
improving street frontages adjacent to the site shall be borne by the developer. 

 
3. Developer/Owner shall dedicate, without compensation, additional right-of-way to 

provide the right-of-way width required by City code and standards.   
 

4. In a phased project, adjacent streets shall be improved and dedicated on a phase-by-phase 
basis up to phase three (3).  Any adjacent street improvements for phases four (4) and 
above shall be constructed and dedicated no later than phase three (3) final plat approval 
unless otherwise approved by City Council.  City Council may, at its discretion, require 
improvement and dedication of all adjacent streets by Phase one (1) final plat approval. 
 

5. Required Improvements: 
 
a. Adjacent Streets (Existing or New):   

 
i. Required improvements to an adjacent street shall consist of pavement 

widening to one-half the required width, including curb, gutter and 
sidewalk (minimum eight (8’) foot detached or five (5’) foot attached), 
plus twelve (12’) feet of additional pavement widening beyond the 
centerline established for the street to provide an adequate roadway 
surface.  City Council may approve an amount less than twelve (12) foot 
for pavement widening past centerline if the one-half road design does not 
require all of the twelve (12) foot pavement allotment to create an 
adequate roadway surface, but the roadway travel surface may not be less 
than 20ft of pavement. Pavement shall be crowned at the ultimate 
centerline. A three (3’) foot wide gravel shoulder and a borrow ditch sized 
to accommodate the roadway storm runoff shall be constructed on the 
unimproved side. The shoulder and borrow on the unimproved side may 
be eliminated if ownership or site conditions prevent or unreasonably 
impede construction of the same.  

 
ii. Minor improvements to existing streets adjacent to a proposed 

development project may be required. These improvements are to correct 



Ordinance 673 Amending Titles 1, 4, and 5 - Page 7 of 9 

deficiencies or replace deteriorated facilities. Included are sidewalk 
construction or replacement; curb and gutter construction or replacement; 
replacement of unused driveways with curb, gutter and sidewalk; 
installation or reconstruction of pedestrian ramps; pavement repairs; signs; 
traffic control devices; and other similar items. 

 
b. Off-Site Streets:  If the proposed development is not served by a public street that is 

fully improved to City standards (curb, gutter, sidewalk) or with a minimum of thirty 
(30) feet of pavement, then prior to final plat of phase one (1), the developer shall 
provide thirty (30) feet of pavement with three (3) foot gravel shoulders from the site 
to a public street specified by the City; or the developer shall provide twenty four (24) 
feet of pavement with three (3) foot gravel shoulders and a minimum six (6) foot 
wide detached asphalt/concrete paved pedestrian facility, from the site to a public 
street specified by the City. 
 

      1.    Half road dedications shall be discouraged; provided, however, the City may accept a 
partial road dedication when such road forms the boundary of the proposed subdivision and is 
deemed to be necessary for the orderly development of the neighborhood, and provided the City 
finds it will be appropriate to require the dedication of the remainder of the right-of-way when 
the adjoining property is developed. When a partial road exists adjoining a proposed subdivision, 
the required right-of-way shall be dedicated and the half road shall be treated in the same manner 
as a full road. 
      2.   Whenever there is an existing half road right-of-way adjacent to a lot to be subdivided, 
the developer shall be required to improve, as a minimum, a half road section plus twelve feet 
(12'). 
 
   D.   Rights-Of-Way Width: 
 
      1.   Road right-of-way width is to be measured from property line to property line (total road 
right-of-way) and property line to centerline (half road right-of-way). The minimum rights-of-
way for the following roads shall be: 
 
Arterials And Collectors Half Road Right-Of-Way Total Road Right-Of-Way 
Blessinger Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Can-Ada Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Canyon Lane 50 feet 100 feet 
Cemetery Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Concord Street east of 
Hartley Lane 

50 30 feet 100 60 feet 

Concord Street west of 
Hartley Lane 

40 feet 80 feet 

Cornell Street 50 feet 100 feet 
Douglas Avenue 50 feet 100 feet 



Ordinance 673 Amending Titles 1, 4, and 5 - Page 8 of 9 

Duff Lane 50 feet 100 feet 
El Paso Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Ember Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Emmett Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Foothills Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Freezeout Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Hall Avenue 50 feet 100 feet 
Hartley Lane 50 feet 100 feet 
Harvard Street 50 feet 100 feet 
Kingsbury Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Landruff Lane 50 feet 100 feet 
Lansing Lane 50 feet 100 feet 
Lee Avenue 50 feet 100 feet 
Meadow Park Street 50 feet 100 feet 
Middleton Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Peel Street 50 feet 100 feet 
Purple Sage Road 50 feet 100 feet 
River Street Sawtooth 
Lake Street 

50 feet 100 feet 

Willis Road 50 feet 100 feet 
Wood Avenue 50 feet 100 feet 
9th Street 50 feet 100 feet   

   
 
Section 9: That Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-10-6 of the Middleton City Code is hereby 
amended as follows: 
 
5-4-10-6: TRAFFIC BUFFER REQUIREMENTS: 
 
The purpose of a traffic buffer is to reduce the visual impact of collector and arterial roadways 
on a residential area. A combination of the following shall be used: a) solid fence or wall; b) 
berm; and c) landscaping. 
 

A. Buffer Dimensions: Traffic buffers shall be accomplished by a combination of berm 
(varying height: minimum 3 feet, maximum 5 feet; 2.5:1 side slopes measured from 
adjacent street top back of curb) and fence (varying height) to a total height of not less 
than nine feet (9') or greater than eleven feet (11') in a twenty four foot (24') (minimum) 
easement  common lot dedicated for traffic buffer area. Traffic buffers shall be 
harmonious with adjacent screening techniques, materials, and colors. 



Ordinance 673 Amending Titles 1, 4, and 5 - Page 9 of 9 

Section 10: That Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-10-7 of the Middleton City Code is hereby 
amended as follows: 
  
5-4-10-7 LANDSCAPE BUFFERS: 
 

A. When a commercial land use that is listed as an allowed use or special use in the C-1 
Zone zoned C-1 (Neighborhood Commercial) of the Land Use Schedule (5-4-1, Table 1) 
directly abuts a residential use, a twenty foot (20’) wide landscaped buffer shall be 
installed between the uses. If deemed necessary, the City may require the commercial 
parcel to include a privacy fence and/or berm.  

 
B. When a commercial land use that is listed as an allowed or special use in the zoned C-2 

or C-3 zones or when any industrial use directly abuts a residential use, a twenty five foot 
(25’) landscape buffer shall be installed between the uses. If deemed necessary, the City 
may require the commercial parcel to include a privacy fence and/or berm.  

 
Section 11:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, 
and publication, according to law.  
 
Section 12:  This ordinance is hereby declared to be severable. If any portion of this ordinance is 
declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions shall continue in 
full force and effect and shall be read to carry out the purposes of the ordinance before the 
declaration of partial invalidity.  
 
Section 13:  All ordinances, resolutions, orders and parts thereof in conflict herewith are 
repealed. 
 
 
PASSED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, this ____ day of 
__________________, 2022. 
 
 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, this ____ day 
of ________________, 2022. 
 
        
___________________________     
STEVEN J. RULE, Mayor 
City of Middleton 
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________ 
BECKY CROFTS, City Administrator 
City of Middleton 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4 



ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON 
NOTICE OF ADOPTION AND SUMMARY OF 

AMENDED AND RESTATED ORDINANCE NO 673 
 
AN ORDINANCE ENACTED BY THE MIDDLETON CITY COUNCIL, CITY OF 
MIDDLETON, COUNTY OF CANYON, STATE OF IDAHO, AMENDING THE 
MIDDLETON CITY CODE TITLE 1, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 1-3-1 REGARDING 
DEFINITIONS FOR FLEX SPACE AND MOBILE FOOD TRUCK SERVICE; AMENDING 
TITLE 1, CHAPTER 14, SECTION 1-14-1 REGARDING ALLOWABLE TIMES FOR 
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS; AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 5, SECTION 4-5-7 
REGARDING HARD PAVEMENT SURFACES; AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 5, 
SECTION 4-5-11 REGARDING PARKING REQUIREMENTS FOR FLEX SPACES; 
AMENDING TITLE 5, CHAPTER 4, SECTION 5-4-1, TABLE 1 TO ADD FLEX SPACE USE 
AND MOBILE FOOD TRUCK SERVICE USE TO LAND USE SCHEDULE; AMENDING 
TITLE 5, CHAPTER 4, SECTION 5-4-4 REGARDING EXPANSION OF PUBLIC HEARING 
RADIUS NOTICE FOR LANDOWNERS; AMENDING TITLE 5, CHAPTER 4, SECTION 5-
4-7 REGARDING BONDING FOR FINAL PLAT APPROVAL; AMENDING TITLE 5, 
CHAPTER 4, SECTION 5-4-10-2 REGARDING TECHNICAL CHANGES FOR ROAD 
STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS; AMENDING TITLE 5, CHAPTER 4, SECTION 5-4-
10-6 REGARDING CHANGES TO TRAFFIC BUFFERS; AMENDING TITLE 5, CHAPTER 
4, SECTION 5-4-10-7 REGARDING LANDSCAPE BUFFERS BETWEEN USES; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES, RESOLUTIONS, ORDERS AND PARTS THEREOF, IN 
CONFLICT HEREWITH. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, 
COUNTY OF CANYON, STATE OF IDAHO: 
 
Section 1. Amends Title 1, Chapter 3, Section 1-3-1 of the Middleton City Code to add definitions 
for “Flex Space” and “Mobile Food Truck Service.” 
 
Section 2. Amends Title 1, Chapter 14, Section 1-14-1 of the Middleton City Code to mandate time 
period to conduct a Neighborhood Meeting. 
 
Section 3. Amends Title 4, Chapter 5, Section 4-5-7 of the Middleton City Code to clarify that hard 
surfaces require “paving” and to mandate conformance with stormwater management ordinances.   
 
Section 4. Amends Title 4, Chapter 4, Section 4-5-11 of the Middleton City Code to state number of 
parking stalls required for “Flex Space” use. 
 
Section 5. Amends Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-1, Table 1 of the Middleton City Code to add “Flex 
Space” and “Mobile Food Truck Service” uses to Land Use Schedule and add footnote 9 regarding 
regulations regarding Mobile Food Truck Service.  
 
Section 6. Amends Title 6, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-4 of the Middleton City Code to increase radius of 
landowner notice for public hearing to 500 feet. 
 
Section 7. Amends Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-7 of the Middleton City Code to increase 
percentage amount for bonds, add fencing to bonds, and add expiration date for bonds. 



Section 8. Amends Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-10-2 of the Middleton City Code to add additional 
standards for City roads and add/revise roads included in the “Right-Of-Way Width” matrix. 
 
Section 9. Amends Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-10-6 of the Middleton City Code to clarify 
standards for a traffic buffer. 
 
Section 10. Amends Title 5, Chapter 4, Section 5-4-10-7 of the Middleton City Code to clarify uses 
that are subject to a landscape buffer. 
 
Sections 11 through 13. Provides that this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 
passage, approval, and publication, according to law; provides for severability; repeals conflicting 
ordinances, resolutions, and orders. 
 
Ordinance No. 673 provides an effective date, which shall be on the _______ day of ____________, 202__. 
Ordinance No. 673 was passed by the Council and approved by the Mayor on the ______ day of 
_________________, 2022. The full text of the Ordinance is available at Middleton City Hall, 1103 W 
Main St, Middleton, ID 83644. The Mayor and City Council approved the foregoing summary on the _____ 
day of _________________, 2022, for publication on the ________  day of ________________________, 
202___, pursuant to Idaho Code § 50-901A. 
 
         
 
 
_______________________________ 
Steven J. Rule 
Mayor, City of Middleton         
 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
_______________________________ 
Becky Crofts, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
STATEMENT OF LEGAL ADVISOR 
I have reviewed the foregoing summary and 
believe that it provides a true and complete 
summary of Ordinance No. 673 and provides 
adequate notice to the public as to the contents of 
such ordinance. 
 
DATED this ____ day of __________________, 
202___. 
Douglas Waterman, Attorney for City of Middleton 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 



Ordinance No.  674 Page 1 

 

 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 674 
Black Powder Subdivision Annexation & Rezone – Parcel No. R3820700   

 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, CANYON COUNTY, IDAHO, ANNEXING 
TO THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY SITUATED IN THE 
UNINCORPORATED AREA OF CANYON COUNTY, IDAHO, AND CONTIGUOUS TO THE 
CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO; ESTABLISHING THE 
ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF SAID REAL PROPERTY TO R-3 (SINGLE FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL); DIRECTING THAT COPIES OF THIS ORDINANCE BE FILED AS 
PROVIDED BY LAW; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MIDDLETON, COUNTY OF CANYON, STATE OF IDAHO: 

Section 1. That the Middleton City Council, following the public notice and hearing 
procedures set forth in the Local Land Use Planning Act (Idaho Code, Title 67, Chapter  65) 
and Middleton City Code Title 1, Chapter 14, approved the Annexation and Rezone of the 
Black Powder Subdivision (Parcel No. R3820700) at a public hearing held on December 
7, 2022. 

Section 2. The following described property, commonly known as 0 Cemetery 
Road (Tax Parcel Nos. R3820700), comprising approximately 40 acres, more or less, is 
contiguous to the City of Middleton, Idaho; the annexation enables the orderly 
development of the City; and the applicant has requested that the property described in 
Exhibit “A” should be annexed into the City of Middleton and zoned R-3 (Single Family 
Residential): 

 
See legal description attached hereto as Exhibit “A” 
and made a part hereof by this reference. 

 
Section 3. That the above-described property is hereby annexed into the 

corporate limits of the City of Middleton and zoned R-3 (Single Family Residential). 

Section 4. That the City Engineer and the Planning & Zoning Official of the City of 
Middleton, Idaho, are hereby instructed to so designate the same above-described 
property on the official zoning map and other area maps of the City of Middleton, Idaho 
as lying within the city limits and zoned R-3 (Single Family Residential). 

Section 5. All ordinances, resolutions, orders or parts thereof in conflict herewith 
are hereby repealed, rescinded and annulled. 

Section 6. This ordinance shall be in full force and in effect from and after its 
passage, approval and publication, according to law. 

 



Ordinance No.  674 Page 2 

 

Section 7. The Clerk of the City of Middleton, Idaho shall, within I0 days following 
the effective date of this ordinance, duly file a certified copy of this ordinance and a map 
prepared in a draftsman-like manner plainly and clearly designating the boundaries of the 
City of Middleton, including the land herein annexed, with the following officials of the 
County of Canyon, State of Idaho, to-wit: the Recorder, Auditor, Treasurer and Assessor 
and shall file simultaneously a certified copy of this ordinance with the State Tax 
Commission of the State of Idaho, all in compliance with Idaho Code§ 63-215. 

 

PASSED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, this 21st day 
of December, 2022. 

 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, this ____ 
day of _________, 2022. 
 

        Attest: 
 
 
 
__________________________   ____________________________ 
Steven J. Rule      Becky Crofts 
Mayor, City of Middleton    City Clerk 

 



Ordinance No.  674 Page 3  

 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of Annexed Property 






	Minutes 12-07-2022 - JR.pdf
	Black Powder CC Hearing.pdf
	Black Powder Subdivision
	Applicant Team
	Slide Number 3
	Before You Tonight	
	Timeline
	Future Tentative Timeline
	Vicinity Map
	Future Land Use Map
	Zoning Map
	Black Powder
	Black Powder
	Black Powder
	Slide Number 13
	Concept Entry Monument 
	Slide Number 15
	Key Transportation Findings
	Initial Transportation Contributions
	Total Transportation Contributions
	Requested Action	
	Key Transportation Findings
	Long Term Transportation Contributions
	School District Comments
	Charter Schools
	Annexation Findings
	Rezone Findings
	Comprehensive Plan
	Street Sections


	Hidden Mill FCO - CC-FINAL.pdf
	In the Matter of the Application of IAG Hidden Mill, LLC (successor in interest to IAG, LLC) and Bob Unger of Unger Enterprises LLC for preliminary plat with respect to Hidden Mill Subdivision located at 0 Main Street, Middleton, ID (Tax Parcel No. R3...
	A. Findings of Fact:
	1. Hearing Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022, which Staff Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference.
	2. Process Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022 (Exhibit “A”).
	3. Application and Property Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022, (Exhibit “A”).
	4. Required Findings per Idaho State Statue Title 67, Chapter 65, and Title 50, Chapter 13, Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction and Middleton Supplement thereto, and Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4:  See Staff Report f...
	B. Conclusions of Law:
	1. That the City of Middleton has the authority to exercise the powers conferred upon it by the “Local Land Use Planning Act of 1975,” codified at Chapter 65, Title 67, Idaho Code (I.C. §67-6503).
	2. That the City of Middleton properly exercised said authority.
	3. That due consideration has been given to the comments received from the governmental subdivisions providing services in the City of Middleton planning jurisdiction, comments received from individuals of the public, and comments from City Planning S...
	4. That public facilities and services required by the proposed development will not impose expense upon the public if the attached conditions of approval are imposed.
	5. That notice of the application and public hearing was given according to law.
	6. That City Council’s public hearing was conducted according to law, and the City has kept a record of the application and related documents.
	7. That codes and standards applicable to the application are the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, and Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4 ...

	C. Decision and Order:
	Pursuant to the City Council’s authority as provided in Middleton City Code 1-5-2, and based upon the above Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, it is hereby decided and ordered:
	That the application of IAG Hidden Mill, LLC for preliminary plat is approved subject to the conditions of approval set forth in the Staff Report for the December 7, 2022, public hearing.
	Please take notice that pursuant to MCC 1-14-2(E)(10), applicant shall have 14 days after a signed final decision to request reconsideration by the final-decision maker. Such request must identify specific deficiencies in the final decision. Failure t...
	Additionally, pursuant to Idaho State Statute 67-6521, any affected person aggrieved by a final decision may, within 28 days after all remedies have been exhausted under local ordinances, seek judicial review as provided in chapter 52, Title 67.
	Finally, please take notice that Applicant has a right to request a regulatory taking analysis pursuant to Idaho State Statute section 67-8003.

	Black Powder - FCO - CC.pdf
	In the Matter of the applications of Adam Capell/Toll Brothers and Nicolette Womack/Kimley-Horn Engineering for annexation/rezone, development agreement, and preliminary plat with respect to the Black Powder Subdivision located at 0 Cemetery Road, Mid...
	A. Findings of Fact:
	1. Hearing Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022, which Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference.
	2. Process Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022, Exhibit “A”.
	3. Application and Property Facts: See Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022, Exhibit “A”.
	4. Required Findings per Idaho State Statue Title 67, Chapter 65, Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction and Middleton Supplement thereto, Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3 & 5-4 and Title 50, Chapters 2 and 13:  See Staff Report fo...
	B. Conclusions of Law:
	1. That the City of Middleton has exercised the powers conferred upon it by the “Local Land Use Planning Act of 1975,” codified at Chapter 65, Title 67, Idaho Code (I.C. §67-6503).
	2. That due consideration has been given to the comments received from the governmental subdivisions providing services in the City of Middleton planning jurisdiction, comments received from individuals of the public, and comments from City Planning S...
	3. That notice of the application and public hearing was given according to law.
	4. That City Council’s public hearing was conducted according to law, and City has kept a record of the application and related documents.
	5. That codes and standards pertinent to the application are the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, and Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4 a...

	6. That public facilities and services required by the proposed development will not impose expense upon the public if the attached conditions of approval are imposed.
	7. That this order is subject to the Conditions of Approval set forth in the attached Staff Report for the hearing date of December 7, 2022,(Exhibit “A”), except condition #7, which was revised to require only a “Voluntary Payment” of $150,000.00.
	8. That codes and standards pertinent to the application are the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4 and I...

	C. Decision & Order:
	Pursuant to City Council’s authority as provided in Middleton City Code 1-5-2, and based upon the above Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, it is hereby ordered that:
	Please take notice that pursuant to MCC 1-14-2(E)(10), applicant shall have 14 days after a signed final decision to request reconsideration by the final-decision maker. Such request must identify specific deficiencies in the final decision. Failure t...
	Additionally, please take notice that Applicant has a right to request a regulatory taking analysis pursuant to Idaho State Statute section 67-8003.

	Ordinance 674 - Black Powder Annexation.pdf
	ORDINANCE NO. 674
	See legal description attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof by this reference.
	PASSED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, this 21st day of December, 2022.
	APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, this ____ day of _________, 2022.
	Attest:
	__________________________   ____________________________
	Steven J. Rule      Becky Crofts Mayor, City of Middleton    City Clerk
	EXHIBIT A


	Ordinance 673 - Code Amendments.pdf
	ORDINANCE NO. 673




